In the Supreme Court of Iowa

NO: 21-0652

GORDON GARRISON,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

NEW FASHION PORK LLP, and
BWT HOLDINGS LLLP,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR EMMET COUNTY
HONORABLE CHARLES BORTH, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

WALLACE L. TAYLOR
4403 1st Ave. S.E., Suite 402
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52402
319-366-2428;(Fax)319-366-3886
e-mail: wtaylorlaw@aol.com

DAVID A. O'BRIEN
1500 Center St. N.E.
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52402
319-861-3001;(Fax)319-861-3007
e-mail: dave@daveobrienlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATUTORY IMMUNITY IN IOWA CODE §§ 657.11(2) AND 657.11A(2) IS CONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED.

Bormann v. Bd. of Supervisors, 584 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1998)

Gacke v. Pork Xtra LLC, 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004)

Gravert v. Nebergall, 539 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1995)

Honomichl v. Valley View Swine LLC, 914 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 2018)

McElroy v. State, 703 N.W.2d 385 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Bruce, 795 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Liddell, 672 N.W.2d 805 (Iowa 2003)

Stuart v. Pilgrim, 247 Iowa 709, 74 N.W.2d 212 (1956)

State v. Thompson, 856 N.W.2d 915 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Williams, 895 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2017)

Article I, Section 1 of the Iowa Constitution

Article I, Section 18, of the Iowa Constitution

Iowa Code § 657.11

Iowa Code § 657.11(2)

Iowa Code § 657.11A

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANTS.

Castro v. State, 795 N.W.2d 789 (Iowa 2011)

Clinkscales v. Nelson Sec., Inc., 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005)

Daboll v. Hoden, 222 N.W.2d 727 (Iowa 1974)

Honomichl v. Valley View Swine LLC, 914 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 2018)

O'Tool v. Hathaway, 461 N.W.2d 161 (Iowa 1990)

Oak Leaf Country Club v. Wilson, 257 N.W.2d 739 (Iowa 1977)

Phillips v. Covenant Clinic, 625 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2001)

Robert's River Rides v. Steamboat Devel. Corp., 520 N.W.2d 294 (Iowa 1994)

Robinson v. Perpetual Services Corp., 412 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 1987)

Walker v. Gribble, 689 N.W.2d 104 (Iowa 2004)

Weinhold v. Wolff, 555 N.W.2d 454 (Iowa 1996)

Iowa Code § 657.11A(5)

Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.904(3)(j)

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.981(3)

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE DAMAGE CAP IN IOWA CODE § 657.11A(3)(c) IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Atlanta Oculoplastic Surgery v. Nestlehutt, 691 S.E.2d 218 (Ga. 2010)

Beason v. I.E. Miller Services, Inc., 441 P.3d 1107 (Okla. 2019)

Behm v. City of Cedar Rapids, 922 N.W.2d 524 (Iowa 2019)

Dimick v. Schiedt, 293 U.S. 474, 480, 487, 55 S.Ct. 296 (1935)

Estate of McCall v. United States, 134 So.3d 894 (Fla. 2014)

Federal Land Bank v. Arnold, 426 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 1988)

Gacke v. Pork Xtra LLC, 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004)

Gravert v. Nebergall, 539 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1995)

Hilburn v. Enerpipe Ltd., 442 P.3d 509 (Kan. 2019)

Honomichl v. Valley View Swine LLC, 914 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 2018)

Lakin v. Senco Products, Inc., 987 P.2d 463 (Or. 1999)

Lebron v. Gottlien Mem'l. Hosp., 930 N.E.2d 895 (Ill. 2010)

McClay v. Airport Mgmt. Servs., 596 S.W.3d 686 (Tenn. 2020)

McQuiston v. City of Clinton, 872 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa 2015)

Moore v. Mobile Infirmary Ass'n., 592 So.2d 156 (Ala. 1991)

Palmore v. Sidoti, 466 U.S. 429 (1984)

Planned Parenthood v. Reynolds, 915 N.W.2d 266 (Iowa 2018)

Racing Assoc. Of Central Iowa v. Fitzgerald, 675 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2004)

Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 771 P.2d 711 (Wash. 1989)

State ex rel. Bishop v. Travis, 306 N.W.2d 733 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Brown, 930 N.W.2d 840 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Russell, 897 N.W.2d 717 (Iowa 2017)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

Weinhold v. Wolff, 555 N.W.2d 454 (Iowa 1996)

Article I, § 1 of the Georgia Constitution

Article I, § 11 of the Alabama Constitution

Article I, Section 1 of the Iowa Constitution

Article I, § 6 of the Iowa Constitution

Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution

Article I, § 17 of the Oregon Constitution

Article I, § 21 of the Washington Constitution

Article II, § 31 of the Arizona constitution

Article III, § 18 of the Pennsylvania constitution

Article V, § 32 of the Arkansas constitution

Article 10, § 4 of the Wyoming constitution

Iowa Code § 657.11

Iowa Code § 657.11A

Iowa Code § 657.11A(1)(a)

Iowa Code § 657.11A(1)(b)

Iowa Code § 657.11A(3)

Iowa Code § 657.11A(3)

Kansas Bill of Rights, § 5

Seventh Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

Section 54 of the Kentucky constitution

Charles T. McCormick, *Handbook on the Law of Damages* 24 (1935)

N. William Hines, *Here We Go Again: A Third Legislative Attempt to Protect Polluting Iowa CAFOs from Neighbors' Nuisance Actions*, 103 Iowa L. Rev. 41 (2018)

Senate Video at [https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?](https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20170314163649480&dt=2017-03-14)

[view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20170314163649480&dt=2017-03-14](https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20170314163649480&dt=2017-03-14)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

On June 1, 2020, Gordon Garrison filed a Petition in the Iowa District Court for Emmet County, alleging nuisance, trespass and violation of Iowa drainage law, arising from the operation by the Defendants of a confined animal feeding operation (Petition)(App. Volume 1, p. 32). During the course of the proceedings, Mr. Garrison filed a motion challenging the constitutionality of the immunity granted to animal feeding operations in Iowa Code §§ 657.11(3)(c) and 657.11A(2) (Immunity Motion)(App. Volume 1, p. 95). Mr. Garrison also filed a motion challenging the constitutionality of the damage cap in Iowa Code § 657.11A(3)(c) (Damage Cap Motion)(App. Volume 1, p. 121). The district court denied both motions.

The Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment (Summary Judgment Motion)(App. Volume 1, p. 239). The district court granted that motion on May 10, 2021 (Summary Judgment Ruling)(App. Volume 2, p. 415).

Mr. Garrison filed a Notice of Appeal on May 11, 2021 (Notice of Appeal)(App. Volume 2, p. 426).

2. Statement of the Facts

Gordon Garrison resides on property he owns in Emmet County, Iowa. The property comprises approximately 300 acres and some of it is farmed, but most of it is being cared for in restoration of the “Prairie Pothole” ecology that was indigenous to northwest Iowa (Garrison Affidavit)(App. Volume 1, p. 88). Mr. Garrison has spent considerable effort and expense in caring for and restoring his property (Garrison Affidavit; Garrison Answer to Interrogatory 25)(App. Volume 1, p. 88; Volume 1, page 373). Defendant, New Fashion Pork LLP, owns and operates a confined animal feeding operation (CAFO) directly adjacent and uphill from Mr. Garrison’s property in Emmet County. The farmland owned by Defendant, BWT Holdings LLLP, adjacent to the Garrison farm is known as the Sanderson property. This CAFO is permitted to hold 4,400 hogs weighing 55 pounds or more, or a total of 1,760 animal units (Def. Answer, ¶ 2)(App. Volume 1, p. 38). The CAFO was populated with animals starting in December of 2015 (Def. Answer, ¶ 5)(App. Volume 1, p. 38).

Prior to the CAFO commencing operation, from 2001 to 2013, Mr. Garrison took 32 water samples from the stream on his property that flows from the adjacent field now owned by BWT Holdings. All of these samples, with one exception, had nitrate levels of 10 ppm or less (Garrison Affidavit; test results)(App. Volume 1, p. 88; Volume 2, p. 80). Defendants began applying manure from their CAFO in the fall of 2016. Mr. Garrison took water samples from April 15, 2016 until July 20, 2020. The test results show approximately a doubling of the nitrate discharge during the time the Defendants were applying manure to the Sanderson field compared to the 2001-2013 test results (Garrison Affidavit; test results)(App. Volume 1, p. 88; Volume 2, p. 81-161). The Defendants also took water samples from the location where the water from the Sanderson field enters the water that flows onto Mr. Garrison's property. Those tests showed elevated levels of nitrate (Def. test results)(App. Volume 2, p. 295-302).

Manure from the Defendants' CAFO was applied to the Sanderson field in the fall of 2016, 2017, 2018 and spring of 2019. There were no precipitation or rain events during the application periods that would have created stormwater runoff from the field to Mr. Garrison's property (Garrison Affidavit; manure application records)(App. Volume 1, p. 88; Volume 2, p. 290). The report of Roger Patocka, a professional engineer, explains the

drainage from the Sanderson field to Mr. Garrison's property, both from surface runoff and subsurface drainage through the pattern tiling on the Sanderson field (Patocka report)(App. Volume 2, p. 162). The report of another expert, Robert Streit, a consulting agronomist, explains why the application rate of manure on the Sanderson field exceeds what would be agronomically appropriate (Streit report)(App. Volume 2, p. 183). The report of Paul Kassel, an ISU Extension agronomist, explains why the application of manure on the Sanderson field exceeds what is agronomically appropriate (Kassel report)(App. Volume 2, p. 185).

Sarah Withers, a New Fashion Pork employee who prepared the manure management plans (MMPs) for the Sanderson CAFO, testified in her deposition that she uses the manure analysis and the crop yield information to compile the MMPs (Withers depo. p. 11-12)(App. Volume 1, p. 46-47). She further testified that the crop yield information is provided by Iowa DNR (Withers depo. p. 12)(App. Volume 1, p. 47). Paul Kassel, an agronomist with ISU Extension Service, has stated that the DNR standard for determining nitrogen as used in the MMPs is based on a factor of 1.2 pounds of nitrogen per bushel of expected corn production. Mr. Kassel explains that this results in an overapplication of manure (Kassel report)(App. Volume 2, p. 185).

Robert Streit, Mr. Garrison's expert agronomist, agrees with Mr. Kassel's analysis (Streit report)(App. Volume 2, p. 183).

The Defendants installed a pattern tiling system on the Sanderson field in April of 2017. This pattern tiling system directs all of the water drainage from the field to three outlets that discharge water directly to a wetland restoration and stream that flows to Mr. Garrison's property (Depo. Ex. 1; Depo. Ex. 2; Garrison affidavit)(App. Volume 1, p. 43; Volume 1, p. 44; Volume 1, p. 88). The Defendants contend that the pattern tiling was installed on the Sanderson field to increase corn yield, but the Defendants admit that their crop records show a significant decrease in yield after the pattern tiling was installed.

As a result of prior litigation between these parties in federal court, the Defendants ceased applying manure on the Sanderson field after the spring 2019 application (Jay Moore depo. p. 48-49)(App. Volume 1, p. 57). The water test results after the spring of 2019 show a general decrease in nitrogen (test results)(App. Volume 2, p. 81). Robert Streit stated:

Nitrogen is in the mix and it can be extracted in the nitrate, ammonia or the amino acid form. While nitrogen is always thought of as being beneficial, having too much nitrate-N available will lead to increased growth of weak stalks, and increased susceptibility to insect and disease attack. The nitrate form is very soluble and leachable. It does not adhere, become absorbed or adsorbed to the soil particles. Therefore, when and if excessive nitrates are present in or near the root zone, they can move with any water flowing through the soil by

gravity or out through tile lines. With gravity pulling the tile line water downhill from the manure field above Mr. Garrison's ground, **it is very plausible that the increased nitrate level in the tile came from the BWT field.** (emphasis added).

(Streit report)(App. Volume 2, p. 183). And Paul Kassel has stated, "Therefore, this extra N may contribute to nitrate loss from this field." (Kassel report)(App. Volume 2, p. 185).

There have been two documented discharges of manure from the Sanderson field after the Defendants began operation there. In the fall of 2016 the analysis of the manure in the storage pit underrepresented the amount of manure in the pit, resulting in a higher content of nutrients than was represented. The manure application was done when the field was saturated with water so the field could not absorb the manure and the manure discharged to Mr. Garrison's property (Garrison affidavit)(App. Volume 1, p. 88). The second incident occurred in December of 2018. Manure was applied to frozen ground on the Sanderson field, and the Iowa DNR confirmed that manure ran off from the field to Mr. Garrison's property (DNR consent order)(App. Volume 2, p. 276).

Mr. Garrison also included in this action a claim for nuisance arising from the impact of odor from the Defendants' CAFO. He prepared an odor calendar showing how often he was subjected to noxious fumes from the CAFO (odor calendar)(App. Volume 2, p. 189). The calendars show that Mr.

Garrison experiences fetid odor about once every three days (odor calendar)(App. Volume 2, p. 189). They also show that Mr. Garrison experienced dizziness and nausea. There were times when Mr. Garrison would be outdoors on his property and he would have to go back inside his house because of the odor (April 9, 2021 Hrg. Tr. p. 69)(App. Volume 2, p. 31).

Mr. Garrison's son, Matthew, confirmed that the odor impacted use and enjoyment of Mr. Garrison's property (Matt Garrison affidavit; April 9, 2021 Hrg. Tr. p. 25-28)(App. Volume 1, p. 371; Volume 2, p. 17-20). Kevin Moore (no relation to Jay Moore), who lived between the CAFO building and Mr. Garrison's property, testified that he and his family were affected by the odor (Kevin Moore depo. p. 12-13)(App. Volume 1, p. 52). Scott Benjamin, who lives even farther away from the CAFO than Mr. Garrison, testified that he and his wife are impacted by the odor (Benjamin affidavit; April 9, 2021 Hrg. Tr. p. 17-18)(App. Volume 1, p. 87; Volume 2, p. 14-15).

The Defendants' CAFO building has large fans on all four sides that blow exhaust fumes from the manure pit and the inside of the building (Jay Moore depo. p. 63-65; Baumgartner depo. p. 15, 17, 20-23; photos of building)(App. Volume 1, p. 58-59; Volume 1, p. 67,68,69; Volume 2, p. 283). The Defendants installed an electrostatic fence along the end of the CAFO building facing Mr. Garrison's property only after Mr. Garrison documented

odor from the facility (Garrison supp. affidavit)(App. Volume 1, p. 368). No fence was installed along the other sides of the building, most significantly on the sides where the fans were blowing exhaust directly from the manure pit (Baumgartner depo. p. 21; Garrison supp. affidavit)(App. Volume 1, p. 69; Volume 1, p. 368). And even the fence that was installed perhaps only reduces odor by 30 percent at best (Baumgartner depo. p. 12)(App. Volume 1, p. 67).

Because of the odor and water pollution, Mr. Garrison's property has suffered a significant decrease in value (Brent Taylor supplemental report; April 9, 2021 Hrg. Tr. p. 35, 38, 40-41)(App. Volume 2, p. 187; Volume 2, p. 22,25,26-27).

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(3), this case should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals because it involves the application of existing legal principles.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATUTORY IMMUNITY IN IOWA CODE §§ 657.11(2) AND 657.11A(2) IS CONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED.

A. Preservation of the Issue for Review

This issue was preserved for review by Mr. Garrison filing a motion to strike the Defendants' affirmative defense based on the statutory immunity

(Immunity Motion)(App. Volume 1, p. 95) and the district court holding an evidentiary hearing and issuing an order (Immunity Order)(App. Volume 2, p. 404).

B. Standard of Review

This issue is reviewed for errors of law. *Gravert v. Nebergall*, 539 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 1995). Constitutional issues are reviewed de novo. *Gacke v. Pork Xtra LLC*, 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004). A statute is presumed to be constitutional and the burden is on the party challenging the statute to rebut that presumption. *Id.*

C. Argument

Iowa Code §§ 657.11 and 657.11A both create immunity in nuisance suits filed against animal feeding operations. Their language is virtually identical. The Iowa Supreme Court has addressed the constitutionality of § 657.11(2) on two previous occasions. In *Gacke v. Pork Xtra LLC*, 684 N.W.2d 168 (Iowa 2004), the court noted that the “the Gackes live across the road from two hog confinement buildings owned and operated by Pork Extra LLC, a family farm corporation. The confinement facilities were built in 1996 and sit approximately 1300 feet north of the plaintiffs’ farmstead, where the plaintiffs have resided since 1974.” *Id.* At 171.

The Gackes alleged that the statute was unconstitutional as a violation of Article I, Section 18, of the Iowa Constitution, known as the Takings Clause. That clause provides, in part, that “[p]rivate property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation first being made” The *Gacke* court, with respect to damages for decrease in value of the plaintiff’s property, reaffirmed the holding in *Bormann v. Bd. of Supervisors*, 584 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1998), that the statutory immunity violates the Takings Clause, and to the extent of property damages, there are no circumstances under which the immunity would be constitutional. As the *Gacke* court put it:

In conclusion, we hold that *Bormann* and state takings jurisprudence requires us to invalidate the statutory immunity only insofar as it prevents property owners subjected to a nuisance from recovering damages for the diminution in value of their property.

So, the Defendants cannot rely at all on the immunity in §§ 657.11 and 657.11A with respect to Mr. Garrison’s claim for diminution in value of his property. Therefore, the district court erred in applying an as-applied constitutional analysis to all aspects of the statutory immunity, including the claim for property damage.

With respect to damages for loss of use and enjoyment of property in a nuisance case, the *Gacke* court held that the statutory immunity was unconstitutional as applied, pursuant to Article I, Section 1 of the Iowa Constitution. That section provides:

All men and women are by nature, free and equal, and have certain inalienable rights – among which are those of enjoying and defending life and liberty, acquiring, possessing and protecting property, and pursuing and obtaining safety and happiness.

The *Gacke* court held that “the Gackes’ desire to enjoy their home free from noxious odors is a right protected by Article I, Section 1 of the Iowa Constitution [T]he plaintiffs’ right to possess their property includes their right to use and enjoy it.” *Gacke*, 684 N.W.2d at 177. The *Gacke* court considered and concluded that “the means adopted by the legislature to accomplish its objective” were not “reasonably necessary” and were “unduly oppressive.” *Id.* at 178.

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