#### IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT NO. 21-0652

#### GORDON GARRISON,

Plaintiff- Appellant,

v.

#### NEW FASHION PORK LLP, and BWT HOLDINGS LLLP,

Defendants- Appellees,

### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR EMMET COUNTY HON. CHARLES BORTH

#### **APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF**

James L. Pray, AT0006318 Jennifer E. Lindberg, AT0013329 James W. White, AT0012418 BROWN, WINICK, GRAVES, GROSS, & BASKERVILLE, P.L.C. 666 Grand Avenue, Suite 2000 Des Moines, Iowa 50309-2510

Telephone: (515) 242-2400 Facsimile: (515) 283-0231

E-mail: james.pray@brownwinick.com E-mail: jen.lindberg@brownwinick.com E-mail: james.white@brownwinick.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

####

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND IOWA CODE SECTION 657.11 IS CONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO PLAINTIFF BECAUSE PLAINTIFF BENEFITTED FROM THE NUISANCE IMMUNITY

#### A. Preservation of Error

Plaintiff failed to preserve error on the issue of whether the application of Iowa Code section 657.11 constitutes a "taking" with regard to his alleged diminution in property damages. (Plaintiff's Brief, pp. 20-21). Plaintiff raised this issue for the first time in his Rule 1.904 motion filed after the Court entered summary judgment in Defendants' favor. App. Vol. 2, pp. 410-414 (Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider). A party cannot raise an argument for the first time in a motion to reconsider. Winger Contracting Co. v. Cargill, Inc., 926 N.W.2d 526, 542-43 (Iowa 2019). Moreover, Plaintiff filed his Notice of Appeal before the Court ruled on the motion to reconsider, and therefore waived the argument. App. Vol. 2, p. 426 (Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal; District Court's Ruling on Motion to Reconsider); Freer v. DAC, Inc., 929 N.W.2d 685, 687-88 (Iowa 2019) ("A moving party is deemed to have waived and abandoned a posttrial motion when that party files a notice of appeal"). The District Court lost jurisdiction upon Plaintiff's filing of the Notice of Appeal at 10:42 a.m. on May 11, 2021. App. Vol. 2, p. 426 (Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal); Freer,

929 N.W.2d at 687–88. Thus, the District Court's denial of the motion to reconsider filed on May 11, 2021 at 11:30 a.m., after the Notice of Appeal was perfected, is void and of no effect. App. Vol. 2, pp. 424-425 (District Court's Ruling on Motion to Reconsider); IBP, Inc. v. Al-Gharib, 604 N.W.2d 621, 628 (Iowa 2000) ("once the appeal is perfected, the district court loses jurisdiction to rule on the motion, and any such ruling has no legal effect"); Wolf v. City of Ely, 493 N.W.2d 846, 848 (Iowa 1992) ("An appeal is taken and perfected by filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the court where the order, judgment or decree was entered"). To the extent Plaintiff argues the Court impliedly decided this issue, the Court should reject that argument as well. Teamsters Local Union No. 421 v. City of Dubuque, 706 N.W.2d 709, 713 (Iowa 2005). The Court should find Plaintiff failed to preserve error on his Takings Clause argument, and decline to consider this issue.

Defendants agree that Plaintiff preserved error on the District Court's ruling that Plaintiff cannot satisfy the *Gacke* factors.

#### **B.** Standard of Review

The Court reviews constitutional challenges to statutes de novo.

Honomichl v. Valley View Swine, LLC, 914 N.W.2d 223, 230 (Iowa 2018).

The Court "presume[s] statutes are constitutional, and the party challenging

the statute must prove the unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt."

Id. (internal quotations omitted). "This requires the challenger to refute every reasonable basis upon which the statute could be found to be constitutional."

Id. (internal quotations omitted). "If the statute is susceptible to multiple constructions, only one of which is constitutional, [the Court is] obliged to adopt the constitutional construction of the statute."

Id.

## C. Plaintiff Had an Animal Feeding Operation on His Property for Nearly Forty Years and Thus Benefitted from the Nuisance Immunity in Iowa Code Section 657.11

Plaintiff cannot satisfy his burden to show section 657.11 is unconstitutional as applied. In order to find section 657.11 unconstitutional as applied to the facts of this case, Plaintiff must meet all of the three prongs contained in the test espoused in *Gacke*:

For courts to determine whether section 657.11(2) is unconstitutional as applied to plaintiffs, plaintiffs must show they (1) "receive[d] no particular benefit from the nuisance immunity granted to their neighbors other than that inuring to the public in general[,]" (2) "sustain[ed] significant hardship[,]" and (3) "resided on their property long before any animal operation was commenced" on neighboring land and "had spent considerable sums of money in improvements to their property prior to construction of the defendant's facilities." *Gacke*, 684 N.W.2d at 178. In applying the second step in *Gacke*, we concluded the means employed by the legislature to accomplish its objective under section 657.11(2) were "unduly oppressive and, therefore, not a reasonable exercise of the state's police power" as applied to the plaintiffs in violation of the inalienable

rights clause of the Iowa Constitution. We reached this decision based on the specific circumstances of the case as developed at trial. Under Iowa law, the constitutionality of a statute is a question of law for resolution by the Court.

Honomichl at 235-36. "[T]he Gacke factors require a fact-based analysis that generally requires a trial on the merits, or at least an evidentiary pretrial hearing." *Id.* at 238.

Following an evidentiary hearing, the District Court correctly found that Plaintiff cannot satisfy the Gacke test. App. Vol. 2, pp. 404-409 (Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Affirmative Defenses). By raising livestock on his property, Plaintiff has received the benefit of the immunity provided by section 657.11. App. Vol. 2, pp. 38-41 (Hearing Transcript, 4/9/21, pp. 76:16-79:19). The protections provided by the statute apply to injuries and claims caused by animal feeding operations on or after May 21, 1998. Iowa Code § 657.11(6). Plaintiff raised approximately 500 ewes on his property for about forty years beginning in the 1970s through 2018, and enjoyed every benefit of the statute. App. Vol. 2, pp. 38-41 (Hearing Transcript, 4/9/21, pp. 76:16-79:19). When the ewes would get pregnant and give birth to lambs, Plaintiff would have upwards of over a thousand total ewes and lambs on his property. App. Vol. 2, p. 40 (Hearing Transcript, 4/9/21, p. 78:6-13). Plaintiff kept the ewes and lambs in a fenced-in lot, confining them for 45 days or more. App. Vol. 3, p. 22 (Hearing Transcript, 4/9/21, pp. 66:3-10); <u>App. Vol. 2, p. 42</u> (Hearing Transcript, 4/9/21, p. 80:9-15). Plaintiff had a barn where the ewes and lambs stayed during weather events and during the winter. <u>App. Vol. 2, p. 40</u> (Hearing Transcript, 4/9/21, p. 78:14-18). Plaintiff has also maintained a manure pile that stands six feet high on his property from his sheep farm for the past forty years. <u>App. Vol. 2, p. 42</u> (Hearing Transcript, 4/9/21, p. 80:16-23); <u>App. Vol. 2, p. 402</u> (Hearing Exhibit U).

There is no dispute that Plaintiff's sheep farm constitutes an animal feeding operation, as defined in Iowa Code section 459.102(4). Plaintiff fully enjoyed the benefits of nuisance immunity related to his animal feeding operation. This is a real benefit that Plaintiff actually enjoyed. It is not some remote, hypothetical benefit, as Plaintiff posits. If any neighboring landowner had raised a nuisance claim against Plaintiff from May 1998 forward related to his sheep farm, section 657.11 would have given him an absolute defense, provided Plaintiff did not violate any applicable rules and used reasonable management practices. Plaintiff argues that for a plaintiff to benefit from the statute under Gacke, the plaintiff has to face an actual or threatened nuisance claim. However, this ignores the fact that section 657.11 was enacted so that animal feeding operations can avoid such claims altogether. Iowa Code § 657.11(1) ("The purpose of this section" is to protect animal agricultural producers who manage their operations according to state and federal requirements from the costs of defending nuisance suits . . ."). The plaintiffs in *Gacke* and *Honomichl* did not engage in animal feeding operations, and could easily meet this prong. Plaintiff cannot make the same argument here given he raised sheep on his farm up until about 2018. The District Court correctly found that Plaintiff did receive the benefits of section 657.11, and therefore section 657.11 is constitutional as applied to Plaintiff.

Plaintiff claims the "benefit" prong of *Gacke* should be narrowly defined, but fails to cite any authority for this argument. As such, Plaintiff has waived this argument. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3).<sup>2</sup> In any event, there is no authority that supports such an argument. No Iowa court has ever found that the benefit prong of *Gacke* should be narrowly defined. The District Court recognized this, finding "neither the *Gacke* test nor any other authority requires a quantitative comparison of potential benefits of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiff makes only sporadic citations to the record throughout his Brief. The Court can and should ignore arguments or contentions where Plaintiff fails to cite to the record, and find such arguments waived. *Tratchel v. Essex Group, Inc.*, 452 N.W.2d 171, 174 (Iowa 1990) ("Courts should not be required to search the record to verify the facts and actions taken and are warranted in ignoring uncited contentions, especially in cases where the record is voluminous"); *Hyler v. Garner*, 548 N.W.2d 864, 876 (Iowa 1996) (same); *Channon v. United Parcel Service, Inc.*, 629 N.W.2d 835, 866 (Iowa 2001) (same).

immunity statute. It only requires that a plaintiff received *no* particular benefit from the nuisance immunity granted to defendants other than that inuring to the public in general." App. Vol. 1, pp. 377-385 (Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Affirmative Defenses, p. 4) (emphasis in original).

## D. Plaintiff Allowed a CAFO Operator to Apply Manure from His CAFO to Plaintiff's Land in Kossuth County and thus Plaintiff Benefitted Further from the Nuisance Immunity

The District Court also correctly found Plaintiff has benefitted from the nuisance immunity related to Plaintiff's property in Kossuth County. App. Vol. 1, pp. 380-381 (Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Affirmative Defenses, pp. 4-5). Specifically, Plaintiff owns a one-half interest in approximately 260 acres of land in Kossuth County. App. Vol. 2, p. 47 (April 9 Hearing Transcript, p. 85:19-23). Plaintiff cash rents this land to Charles Laubenthal. App. Vol. 3, p. 22; App. Vol 2, p. 30 (April 9 Hearing Transcript, pp. 67:11 – 68:9). Mr. Laubenthal operates a CAFO near the property. App. Vol 2, p. 30 (Id.). With Plaintiff's permission, Mr. Laubenthal has applied manure from the CAFO to Plaintiff's land. App. Vol. 2, pp. 48-51 (April 9 Hearing Transcript, pp. 86:4 – 89:5).

Plaintiff argues that only a CAFO owner or operator could "benefit" from the application of section 657.11. However, both the statute and the

facts of this case show otherwise. First, Iowa Code section 657.11(4) specifically provides that the nuisance immunity applies to "the transportation and application of animal manure." Thus, it is directly applicable to the situation here, where Mr. Laubenthal transported and applied manure from an animal feeding operation on Plaintiff's land. App. Vol. 2, pp. 48-51 (April 9 Hearing Transcript, pp. 86:4 - 89:5). Second, in this very case, Plaintiff sued the owner of land on which manure is applied, BWT Holdings, LLLP, seeking to hold BWT Holdings liable for nuisance. App. Vol. 1, p. 32 (Petition, ¶ 3). BWT Holdings is not an owner or operator of the animal feeding operation. App. Vol. 1, p. 32 (Petition, ¶ 3). This wholly contradicts Plaintiff's argument that only "the owner or operator of an animal feeding operation" can be sued for nuisance and thus benefit from Iowa Code section 657.11. Plaintiff's use of the Kossuth County land that he owns provides an additional reason to find Plaintiff benefitted from the nuisance immunity in Iowa Code section 657.11, and therefore cannot satisfy the *Gacke* test.

### E. Alternatively, the Court Should Overrule *Gacke*, Apply a Rational Basis Test, and Find the Statute Constitutional

As Defendants argued before the District Court, *Gacke* was wrongly decided, is outdated, is limited to its facts, and should be overruled. <u>App.</u>

<u>Vol. 3, pp. 13-14</u> (Defendants' Memorandum of Authorities in Support of

Resistance to Motion to Strike Affirmative Defenses, pp. 7-8). As Justice Waterman and Justice Mansfield recognized in *Honomichl*, the *Gacke* test is out of line with Iowa Supreme Court precedent and the Court's usual deference to the Iowa legislature. Honomichl v. Valley View Swine, LLC, 914 N.W.2d 223, 239 (Iowa 2018) (Waterman, J., concurring specially). The Court should apply a rational basis review, which section 657.11 clearly satisfies. Honomichl, 914 N.W.2d at 238. While the District Court did not rule on this issue, this Court may still decide whether Gacke should be overruled. "A successful party in district court is not required to request the district court to rule on alternative grounds raised, but not relied upon by the district court in making its ruling, in order to assert those grounds in support of affirming the ruling of the district court when appealed by the opposing party." State v. Cromer, 765 N.W.2d 1, 7 n.4 (Iowa 2009). The Court should overrule *Gacke* and uphold section 657.11 under a rational basis review. This serves as an alternative basis to affirm the District Court's denial of Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Affirmative Defenses.

### II. DEFENDANTS ARE ENTITLED TO THE PROTECTIONS OF IOWA CODE SECTION 657.11 AS A MATTER OF LAW

#### A. Preservation of Error

Defendants agree that Plaintiff preserved error on this issue.

#### B. Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment for correction of errors at law. Kistler v. City of Perry, 719 N.W.2d 804, 805 (Iowa 2006). Summary judgment is "the put up or shut up moment in a lawsuit, when a party must show what evidence it has that would convince a trier of fact to accept its version of events." Nelson v. Lindaman, 867 N.W.2d 1, 11 (Iowa 2015) (quoting Hammel v. Eau Galle Cheese Factory, 407 F.3d 852, 859 (7th Cir. 2005)). Summary judgment is proper if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Robinson v. Allied Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 816 N.W.2d 398, 401 (Iowa 2012); Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3). An issue of fact is "material" only when the dispute involves facts that might affect the outcome of the suit. Wallace v. Des Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist. Bd. of Dirs., 754 N.W.2d 854, 857 (Iowa 2008). An issue of material fact is "genuine" only when the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party. Id. Although the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the nonmoving party must set forth specific facts showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial, and mere speculation is insufficient. Hlubek v. Pelecky, 701 N.W.2d 93, 95-96 (Iowa 2005). "[W]hen the facts are undisputed and the only issue is what legal consequences flow from those facts, entry of summary judgment is

proper." *Emmet Cty. State Bank v. Reutter*, 439 N.W.2d 651, 653 (Iowa 1989). "It is well established that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment is not entitled to rely on the hope of a subsequent magical appearance at trial of genuine issues of material fact." *Prior v. Rathjen*, 199 N.W.2d 327, 331 (Iowa 1972).

#### C. Plaintiff Has No Evidence of Defendants' Failure to Use Prudent Generally Accepted Management Practices Reasonable for the Operation

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